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Appear ances: Robert J. Murphy, Esq., Ofice of the Solicitor,
U. S. Department of Labor, Denver, Col orado,
for Respondent;
David M Arnol ds, Esq., ARCO Denver, Col orado
for Contestant.

Bef ore: Judge Cetti

These consol i dated cases are before me under section 105(d)
of the Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977, 30 U.S.C. O
801 et seq., the "Act" to challenge two citations and one
i mm nent danger withdrawal order issued by the Secretary of
Labor's M ne Safety and Heal th Adm nistration ("MSHA") agai nst
t he Beaver Creek Coal Conpany (Beaver Creek) and for review of
civil penalties proposed by the Secretary for the rel ated
vi ol ati ons.

Pursuant to notice, these cases were heard in Salt Lake
City, Utah. Both parties have filed post-hearing briefs which I
have considered along with the entire record in making this
deci si on.
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STl PULATI ONS

The parties have agreed to the follow ng stipulations, which
| accept:

1. That Beaver Creek is engaged in mning and selling of
coal in the United States and its mining operations affect
interstate commerce

2. That Beaver Creek is the owner and operator of Trai
Mount ai n Nunber 9 M ne.

3. That Beaver Creek is subject to the jurisdiction of the
Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977, 30 U. S. Code 801

4, That the presiding Judge has jurisdiction in this matter.

5. That the proposed penalties will not affect Beaver
Creek's ability to continue in business.

6. That Beaver Creek denonstrated good faith in abating the
al | eged vi ol ati ons.

7. That Beaver Creek is a nediumsize operator with
approxi mately 244,097 tons of production in 1988.

8. The certified copy of the Mne Safety and Health
Adm ni stration's Assessed Violation History (Ex. J) accurately
reflects the history of Beaver Creek's Trail Muntain No. 9 M ne
for the past two years, prior to the date of the citations.

| SSUES

1. Whether there was a violation of 30 CF. R 0O 75.1704 as
charged in Citation No. 3224857.

2. Whether there was a violation of 30 CF.R 0O 75.202(a) as
charged in Citation No. 3224858.

3. Whether the violations were "significant and
substantial . "

4. Whether the violation of 30 CF. R 0O 75.1704 (Citation
No. 3224857) resulted from"unwarrantable failure" on the part of
Beaver Creek.
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5. Whether the issuing inspector abused his discretion or
authority in issuing the 107(a) closure Order No. 3224859.

6. The appropriate civil penalties, if any, to be assessed
taking into consideration the statutory civil penalty criteria in
Section 110(i) of the Act.

Beaver Creek owns and operates Trail Muntain No. 9 M ne
(the "M ne"), an underground coal nine |located near Price, Utah

These contest and civil penalty proceedi ngs arise out of
MSHA' s i ssuance to Beaver Creek of Section 107(a) i nm nent danger
closure Order No. 3224859 and its underlying Citation No.
3224858, and a 104(d) (1) unwarrantable failure Citation No.
3224857. Beaver Creek tinely contested the i mm nent danger
closure order and the two citations. The proposal for penalties,
VWEST 89-185 (Citation No. 3224857) and WEST 89-182 (Citation No.
3224858) were served on Beaver Creek a few days before the
hearing and were tinmely answered.

The two citations and the 107(a) closure order are so
closely related factually, that all proceedings were consol i dated
and testinony fromeach witness on both citations and the order
were taken at one tinme. There are, however, separate issues
bet ween Order No. 3224859, with its related Citation No. 3224858,
and Citation No. 3224857.

I nspect or Robert Huggi ns, acconpani ed by his supervisor
W |iam Ponceroff, conducted the inspection of the m ne
Supervi sor Ponceroff was present, partly for the purpose of
observing M. Huggins and evaluating his ability and training. It
was, neverthel ess, M. Huggins' inspection. M. Jeffrey Cooper
who at that tinme was the Safety and Heal th Supervisor for Beaver
Creek, and M. Duane G | bert, Shift Supervisor for Beaver Creek
joined the inspection team

M. Cooper is a highly trained and experienced health and
safety professional. (See transcript C. 203-206 for specifics on
his training and experience). M. Glbert is an experienced
supervi sor, holding fire boss and mine foreman certificates since
1978. I nspector Huggins and his Supervisor Ponceroff are also
hi ghly trai ned, experienced m ne safety professionals.

The inspection party went underground to make the inspection
at approximately 7 a.m during a non-production shift. Wile
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wal ki ng inby the No. 2 belt line, they heard the noise of rushing
air. The usual belt |ine noise was absent since the belt was not
running at the tinme the air noise was heard and investigated. The
noi se as descri bed by Supervisor Ponceroff was "like driving in
the car and you open a wing window . . . it was really

noti ceabl e." The noise was characterized by Inspector Huggins, as
a wi nd speed of 45-60 ml|es per hour pouring through a car

wi ndow. The noi se was heard before its source was di scovered. The
wi nd noi se source was |ocated. It was identified as a hole in the
coal rib on the off wal kway side of the belt entry between
crosscuts Nos. 5 and 6. The hol e was approxi mately eight inches
hi gh, six inches wi de, and seven inches thick

Coal dust which was emitted fromthis rib opening resulted
in the formation of a conical accunulation at the base of the
rib, indicating to all concerned that the rib hole nust have been
there for quite sone tine.

The inspector and M. Cooper |ooked through the hole in the
rib using their cap lanps but they could see very little in
either direction. They did, however, see sone deterioration of
the roof with fallen debris about five feet high and at the far
si de saw sone roof at an angle.

Al t hough they did not realize it at the tine, the inspection
team in |ooking through the hole in the rib, were | ooking into
an ol d abandoned work out area that was |ocated between the belt
entry and the return entry.

M. Huggi ns and M. Cooper went through the man door at the
No. 5 crosscut stopping between the belt entry and the return
entry to try to see the hole fromthe return side. They could not
find it even when Supervisor Ponceroff and M. Gl bert shone a
light through the hole and put snoke through the hole in their
attenpts to locate the hole. The reason they could not find the
hole fromthe return side was that the hole through the rib
entered into the abandoned worked-out area that was | ocated
between the belt entry and the return, and this old worked-out
abandoned area was closed off fromthe return by two stoppings on
the return side.

The nmen left the nine and went to the nine office where
I nspect or Huggi ns and M. Cooper |ooked at the mine nap and found
the narrow area in the rib and determnmined that the hole was
probably in that spot. At that point in time they still did not
realize why they were unable to see the light or snmoke which they
put through the hole in the rib
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After some discussions with Supervisor Ponceroff, M. Huggins
stated that he thought the hole constituted an unwarrantabl e
failure and the roof conditions constituted an inmm nent danger
M. Cooper disagreed.

After several phone calls between the inspectors and the
Denver MSHA office, the inspectors proposed that Beaver Creek
build a 50-foot longwall of solid concrete bl ock. Beaver Creek
obj ected because it believed the cost would have been prohibitive
and M. Cooper did not believe there was any hazard. Finally, M.
G | bert suggested building a crib wall, which he believed was
unnecessary but which he suggested in order to get the closure
order lifted. The inspector approved.

M . Cooper then asked what areas of the m ne were affected
and the inspector told himthe belt line and the return.
Therefore, M. Cooper withdrew all of the men fromthe mne inby
crosscuts 5 and 6. The crib wall was pronmptly constructed at a
cost of about $3,600 in material and $35,000 in | ost production
The cl osure order was lifted within one and one-half days of the
i nspection.

Because he believed there was no maj or roof problem M.
Cooper took a canera when he returned underground and took
phot ographs of the area. Wthin the next two days, he took
addi ti onal photographs, took nmeasurenents and observations, and
docunented his findings on a certified m ne map, which was
received into evidence as Beaver Creek's Exhibit 2.

The conditions that existed under which M. Huggins issued
the cl osure order and the unwarrantable failure citation were as
foll ows:

1. A six-inch by eight-inch hole was in the rib that
separated the belt entry fromold workings. |Inspector Huggins
could only guess at the length and thickness of that rib. M.
Poncerof f did not check the thickness and therefore he did not
know what it was.

2. Air slack or potting had occurred in the roof along the
rib, the extent of which Supervisor Ponceroff did not neasure.
I nspector Huggins did not neasure it either but estinated that it
varied from9 inches to 14 inches deep for the length of the rib
M. Cooper |ater neasured it to be in tw areas, 16 feet |ong and
4 feet long respectively, for a depth of generally 4 inches to a
maxi mum of 7 inches.

3. Tinmbers in the belt entry next to the rib, which had been
present at |least ten years, showed no sign of taking weight.
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4. Bolts in the belt entry were on four- to five-foot centers
showed no wei ght stress.

5. There was no evidence of cutting or shearing of the rib
into the roof.

6. There was fallen roof material in the worked-out area
behind the rib; i.e., in this abandoned area between the rib and
the return entry. The roof in that worked out area had been
unsupported and the area had been nined out a |long tinme ago,
variously estimted at 10-15 or nore years.

7. The six-inch by eight-inch hole that separated the belt
entry fromthe old worked out area had existed a long tine.

8. The air going through the hole in the rib entered the old
wor ki ngs, which were stoppinged off fromthe return entry.

9. Al air in the mne was deliberately vented to the return
entry. Belt air is vented to the return by the use of regulators
whi ch an operator can | ocate anywhere he desires. Beaver Creek
had a regul ator close to the portal, about six crosscuts outby
the hol e.

10. The return entry was the nmine's alternate or secondary
escapeway.

Il
Docket Nos. WEST 89-23-R and WEST 89-185
Citation 3224857

I nspector Huggi ns issued Citation No. 3224857 under Secti on
104(d) (1) of the Act for a violation of 30 C.F. R 75.1704.
Section 8, "Condition or Practice" of the citation reads as
fol |l ows:

The designated return escapeway was not being

mai nt ai ned to ensure safe passage of persons including
di sabl ed persons. A hole has eroded fromthe belt entry
into the return entry through the coal rib between #5
and #6 crosscuts on #2 beltline. The hol e was neasured
to be 8 inches by 6 inches and the air was making a
rushing noi se and going into the return. The #6 and #7
st oppi ngs used to separate the belt air fromthe return
air designated escapeway are |eaking and the air
rushing into the return could be readily heard. These
condi tions have been there for awhile and it should
have been observed by the preshift exani ner
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The citation states that the risk of injury was highly likely,
that the gravity was S&S and that Beaver Creek's negligence was
hi gh.

The cited regulation 30 CF. R 0O 75.1704 provides in
rel evant part as foll ows:

Except as provided in Section 75.1705 and 75.1706, at

| east two separate and distinct travel abl e passageways
whi ch are maintained to ensure passage at all tines of
any person, including disabled persons, and which are
to be designated as escapeways, at |east one of which
is ventilated with intake air, shall be provided from
each working section continuous to the surface escape
drift opening, . . . and shall be maintained in safe
condition and properly marked.

Di scussi on and Concl usi on

The main facts surrounding Citation No. 3224857, set out
above, are well| established and virtually undisputed. A hole six
i nches by eight inches was present in the coal rib between
crosscuts 5 and 6 on the offside of the belt entry. The hol e went
into a worked out area between the belt entry and the return
entry. The return entry was the alternate escapeway. The old
wor ki ngs were stoppi nged off on the return side of the workings.
Thus, the return escapeway was separate and distinct and was
mai ntained in a safe condition. The return entry was separate
fromthe belt entry by stoppings on the return side of the worked
out area. There was no persuasive evidence of any significant air
| eakage at any of the m nes stoppings. Cf. Rochester & Pittsburgh
Coal Conpany, 10 FMSHRC 1576, 1577-1578. The rib, except for the
si x-inch by eight-inch hole, constituted a redundant separation
The preponderance of the evidence presented did not establish a
violation of 30 CF. R 0O 75.1704. Citation No. 3224857 is
vacat ed. Contest proceeding No. WEST 89-23-R is granted. Civi
Penal ty proceedi ng WEST 89-184 is dism ssed.

111
Docket Nos. WEST 89-24-R and WEST 89-182
Citation No. 3224858

Citation No. 3224858 alleges a section 104(a), S&S violation
of 30 CF.R 0O 75.202(a). The citation reads as foll ows:

The m ne roof was not being supported adequately by a
di stance of 60 feet between the #5 and #6 crosscuts and
the #2 belt entry. The roof has potted out
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next to the rib and the rib is about 2 feet thick for a distance

of about 50 feet next to old entry.
30 C.F.R Section 75.202(a) reads as follows:

The roof, face and ribs of areas where persons work or
travel shall be supported or otherw se controlled to
protect persons from hazards related to falls of the
roof, face or ribs and coal or rock bursts.

IV
I mmi nent Danger Cl osure Order No. 3224859

The 107(a) inmm nent danger closure order issued to Beaver
Creek reads as foll ows:

The followi ng condition constitutes an i mr nent danger
whi ch was observed between the #5 and #6 crosscuts in
the #2 belt entry of the left rib going in the mne
The coal rib between the belt entry and the return
entry is about 2-foot thick with a hole in the coal rib
into the return. There is a |ot of pressure on the rib
because the main fan is about 1,000 feet fromthis
area. The old entry behind this rib (return side). The
roof has fallen and the two-foot rib is about 50 feet
in length. The mine roof in the belt entry has potted
out next to this two-foot coal rib. See Citation
3224858.

The Secretary, based upon the testinony of |Inspector Huggins
and Supervi sor Ponceroff, contends that the area behind the
si x-inch by eight-inch hole in the rib, the old worked-out area
adj acent to the belt entry, was in the process of rapid
deterioration. The fallen roof debris in this worked-out area was
approximately five (5) feet in height. Supervisor Ponceroff
testified that the thickness of the rib between the belt entry
and the ol d workings had "whittled down to two foot." He further
testified that he "imagi ned" that Inspector Huggins assuned the 2
foot thickness of rib extended for a distance of 50 feet (Tr.
93). He also testified he observed sl oughage on both sides of the
rib line, "potting out" of the roof and fracture |lines running
fromthe "old workings to the belt line roof." M. Ponceroff
stated that the "entire area fromthe return entry to the belt
line entry was showi ng "signs of change."
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When asked what signs of change the area was showi ng, he replied:

A. The signs of change at the | ocation of the post
where the hole was -- occurred, had eroded through the
rib. Sloughage was occurring. Lam nation was occurring.
The area was potting out. If you -- the area in the
cracks had been -- were recent cracks; there was no
rock dust in those cracks.

Huggi ns testified he did not nmeasure the |length of the
thi nned-out rib or its thickness but he "guessed" it was about 50
feet in length and averaged 2 feet in thickness.
Beaver Creek's Position

Beaver Creek submits that closure Order No. 3224859 and its
underlying Citation No. 3224858 were wi thout any basis in |law or
in fact and that |nspector Huggi ns' issuance of them was i nproper
and abusi ve.

Beaver Creek outlines its position as foll ows:

1. Inspector Huggins did not believe that an i mm nent danger
exi sted.

2. No danger with respect to the rib or roof existed.
3. If a danger existed, it was not imm nent.

4. The order is defective on its face because it fails to
state the area of the m ne throughout which the all eged danger
exi st ed.

Section 107(a) requires that the authorized representative
of the Secretary issue the order if he finds that an i mi nent
danger exists. Beaver Creek contends that if the issuing
i nspector did not believe that an i mm nent danger existed, the
order nust fall.

Beaver Creek presented sonme evidence in support of its
assertion that the issuing inspector, Huggins, did not believe an
i mm nent danger of a roof fall existed. M. Cooper testified that
on Novenber 10, 1988, in Salt Lake City, Inspector Huggins, after
his deposition, said to M. Cooper, "For your information, and
conpletely off the record, | want you to know that the imi nent
danger was not mine; the unwarrantable was." M. Cooper testified
that he docunmented this statement in his journal on that day.
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I nspect or Huggi ns adopted practically all of Supervisor
Ponceroff's testinony at the hearing.

Beaver Creek also points out that Inspector Huggins by his
own adm ssion did not renmenber | ooking at the condition of the
tinmbers or bolts to see if they were taking weight. He testified
he did not | ook over his head.

VWil e the evidence presented by Beaver Creek on this issue
has some plausibility, |I credit the testinmony of Inspector
Huggi ns and Supervi sor Ponceroff that M. Huggins did in fact
determ ne that an inmm nent danger existed.

Roof Fal |l Danger

Wth respect to the i ssuance of the imm nent danger order
M. Huggins testified on direct exam nation as foll ows:

Q Okay. And, could you tell us the circunstances that
led to the issuance of that particular citation (sic)?

A. Al the things that was involved in this area right

here, like | said, not knowi ng what is overhead, and in
the interest of safety, and so forth, that's why it was
i ssued.

On cross-exam nation | nspector Huggins' reasons for issuing
the i mm nent danger closure order were summarized as foll ows:

Q | understand your testinony, then, that you issued
t he emm nent danger (sic) danger order out of fear of a
roof fall, because the roof had fallen and (sic) the

ol d workings that was unsupported, and because there
was potting along the rib that you estimted or guessed
at being 2 feet thick, like couldn't really determ ne

A. And, also, that | could not see straight up. | did
not know what was above.

Q Sure, you didn't know what was above --
A. Right. That's true.

Q -- because you can't see through the roof?
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A. And in the interest of safety, you know --

Q Uh- huh.
A -- and it was to save sonebody's life, the way I
| ook at it.

(Tr. 179 - 180)

Beaver Creek in support of its position points to the
uncontroverted fact that the roof bolts and tinmbers in the belt
entry, which had been in place for at |east 10 years, showed no
stress or signs of taking weight; that |Inspector Huggins
seem ngly ignored the m ne map and only guessed at the |length and
thi ckness of the rib in question.

I nspector Huggins testified that he did not consider whether
the tinbers or the bolts showed signs of stress because he was
concerned about the "potting," which he asserted was a rea
i ndi cation of a roof fall. Inspector Huggins estimted the
potting to be 9 inches to 14 inches deep and ran nost of the
length of the rib, but he took no neasurenents. There was
conflicting opinion as to whether this condition was due to air
sl ack or potting. Supervisor Ponceroff described air slack to be
an eroding of the m ne due to noisture, and he described potting
to be the falling away of |arge pieces in the shape of a kitchen
pot. Supervisor Ponceroff testified that there can be air sl ack
without a risk of a roof fall and al so there can be potting
wi thout the risk of a roof fall. M. Cooper testified that what
exi sted was air slack, not potting, and that air slack is a
normal occurrence in mnes. M. Cooper neasured the air slack to
be generally 4 inches in depth to 7 inches nmaxi mumand in two
stretches, 16 feet and 4 feet |ong, respectively. The photographs
of the area (B.C. Ex. 4.6, 4.8 and 4.9) show the condition that
existed. It was undisputed that the rib was not cutting or
shearing up into the roof. M. Cooper testified that the rib was
not crushing out.

I nspect or Huggi ns' primary concern, in addition to the
potting, apparently was based on the 6 inch by 8 inch hole in the
rib that existed for a long time and his guess that the rib was
only 2 feet thick for 50 feet, therefore insufficient to support
t he roof.

I nspect or Huggi ns al so expressed concern about the fallen
roof in the old workings. However, the old workings were very old
and were unsupported, while the roof in the belt entry was
supported by tinmbers and cl osely spaced bolts which appeared to
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be in good shape. M. Cooper testified the roof in the belt entry
along the rib was in good condition (Tr. 250, BC Ex. 4.12, 4.13,
and 4.14).

Supervi sor Ponceroff asserted that Beaver Creek was using
the rib as a primary support and therefore it should have been 50
to 60 feet thick, and that the rib provided little or no support,
creating a 40-foot span which would result in sag that would
finally break. |nspector Ponceroff, like M. Huggins, puts little
wei ght on the facts that the rib had been there many years and
that the tinmbers and bolts show no wei ght, even though those
bolts and tinbers were at |east 10 years ol d. Beaver Creek
contends that, if there was going to be any sag, it would have
shown on the tinbers in those 10 years.

Supervi sor Ponceroff argued that he could see vertica
cracks in Beaver Creek's pictures received in evidence that could
result in a roof fall. Beaver Creek contends that Supervisor
Poncerof f never explained in any intelligible manner how those
cracks, if they existed, could create a danger when the adjacent
ti mbers and bolts showed no stress. Beaver Creek al so points out
t hat Supervi sor Ponceroff's testinony about the risk resulting
fromthe cracks and fromthe fallen roof in the worked-out area
and the air slack was that the roof could fall, not that a fal
was likely or imrMnent. This is evident in the follow ng excerpt
fromhis testinony:

So, the what can happen in a case like this, the reason
why you can have a massive roof fall there, is the fact
that it my be -- the fracture may be going at an
angle, and it'll stay there until sonething el se
breaks, and that hole (sic) thing can cone at once.
(Enmphasi s added).

M. Cooper, on the contrary, testified that the cracks were
not vertical or on an angle, but were nere horizonta
lam nations. It is undisputed M. Cooper did one thing the
i nspectors failed to do. After the inspectors left, he tested the
area in question with a scaling bar and found it to be solid. M.
Cooper testified that "I banged on that thing, and banged on it,
and it was just as solid as ever. You couldn't hear anything
there." Supervisor Ponceroff testified that it is common to do
this "sound and vibration" test but that he did not do it and it
is clear fromthe record that Inspector Huggins did not do it.

Supervi sor Ponceroff also made nuch of the report of
uni ntentional roof falls in the mne. Beaver Creek, however,
presented evidence that all five prior unintentional falls were
in areas where there was either no roof support or only sone
parti al
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bolting and all five prior falls were in different areas of the
mne that were quite a ways away fromthe area in question.

M. Robert J. Marshall, a certified mning engineer, was the
last witness to testify. He is the engi neering supervisor for
Beaver Creek. He is a licensed engineer in Uah and Col orado.
After the inspection, M. Marshall conducted an extraction ratio
study of the percentage of the coal that had been renoved versus
the percentage of coal that remained in place. M. Marshall's
anal ysis showed that the coal in place provided approximately two
times as much support as was required by the roof. The thinned
out stretch of the rib, as perceived by Supervisor Ponceroff and
I nspect or Huggi ns, provided negligible support. However, that
support was unnecessary. The thinned-out stretch could have been
conpletely renmoved without creating a risk of a roof fall

Hi s testinony was offered as an expert witness with respect
to coal mne roof control issues.

Di scussi on
Section 107(a) of the Act provides in part as follows:

If upon any inspection or investigation of a coal or
other mne which is subject to this Act, an authorized
representative of the Secretary finds that an i mi nent
danger exists, such representative shall determne the
extent of the area of such mne throughout which the
danger exists, and issue an order requiring the
operator of such mine to cause all persons except those
referred to in section 104(c), to be withdrawn from
and to be prohibited fromentering, such area until an
authorized representative of the Secretary determ nes
that such i mm nent danger and the conditions or
practices which caused the inmrnent danger no | onger
exi st .

Section 3(j) of the Mne Act, 30 U S.C. 802(j), defines an

i mm nent danger as "the existence of any condition or practice in
a coal or other mne which could reasonably be expected to cause
death or serious physical harm before such condition or practice
can be abated." This definition is unchanged fromthe definition
contained in the Federal Coal Mne Health and Safety Act of 1969,
30 U S.C. O801 et seq. (1976) (anended 1977) (the "1969 Coa
Act"). The Senate report on the Mne Act explains
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that the Secretary's authority to issue inmm nent danger orders
"shoul d be construed expansively by inspectors and the

Conmi ssion.” S. Rep. No. 181, 95th Cong., 1st Sess. 38 (1977),
reprinted in Legis. Hist. Mne Act 626.

I n discussing the concept of immnent danger, the Conm ssion
has recently stated:

In analyzing [the] definition [of imm nent danger], the
U.S. Courts of Appeals have eschewed a narrow
construction and have refused to Iimt the concept of

i mm nent danger to hazards that pose an i medi ate
danger. See, e.g. Freeman Coal Mning Co. v. Interior
Bd. of Mne Op. App., 504 F. 2d 741 (7th Cir. 1974).
Also, the Fourth Circuit has rejected the notion that a
danger is immnent only if there is a reasonable
likelihood that it will result in an injury before it
can be abated. Eastern Associated Coal Corp. v.

Interior Bd. of Mne Op. App., 491 F.2d 277, 278 (4th
Cir. 1974). The court stated that "an inmm nent danger
exi sts when the condition or practice observed could
reasonably be expected to cause death or serious
physical harmto a miner if normal mning operations
were pernmtted to proceed in the area before the
dangerous condition is elimnated." 491 F.2d at 278
(enmphasis in original). The Seventh Circuit adopted
this reasoning in Od Ben Coal Corp. v. Interior Bd. of
M ne Op. App., 523 F.2d 25, 33 (7th Cir. 1975).

Rochester & Pittsburgh Coal Co., 11 FMSHRC 2159, 2163 (Novemnber
1989).

The Seventh Circuit has further recognized the inportance of
the inspector's judgnent in issuing an i minent danger order

Clearly, the inspector is in a precarious position. He
is entrusted with the safety of miners' lives, and he
must ensure that the statute is enforced for the
protection of these lives. His total concern is the
safety of life and linmb . . . . W nust support the
findings and the decisions of the inspector unless
there is evidence that he has abused his discretion or
authority. (enphasis added)

O d Ben, supra, 523 F.2d at 31; Rochester & Pittsburgh, 11 FMSHRC
at 2164.
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The Conmi ssion has taken note of the fact that mine roofs are
i nherently dangerous and that even good roof can fall without
war ni ng. Consolidation Coal Conpany, 6 FMSHRC 34, 37 (January
1984). It has also stressed the fact that roof falls remain the
| eadi ng cause of death in underground m nes, Eastover M ning Co.,
4 FMSHRC 1207, 1211 and n. 8 (July 1982); Hal fway Incorporated, 8
FMBHRC 8, 13 (January 1986); Consolidation Coal Conpany, supra.

The Commi ssion recently stated in upholding the issuance of
an i mm nent danger withdrawal order in Rochester & Pittsburgh
Coal Co. v. Secretary of Labor, supra at 2164; [The operator's]
focus on the relative |ikelihood of [m ners] being injured
ignores the adnonition in the Senate Committee Report for the
M ne Act that an inmm nent danger is not to be defined "in terns
of a percentage of probability that an accident will happen." S
Rep. No. 181, 95th Cong., 1st Sess. 38 (1977), reprinted in
Senate Subconmmittee on Labor of the Committee on Human Resources,
95th Cong., 2nd Session, Legislative History of the Federal M ne
Safety and Health Act of 1977 at 626 (1978). Instead, the focus
is on the "potential of the risk to cause serious physical harm
at any tinme." Id. The Cormittee stated its intention to give
i nspectors "the necessary authority for the taking of action to
remove mners fromrisk." Id

"[Such] argunment also fails to recognize the role played by
MSHA i nspectors in elimnating i minently dangerous conditions.
Since he nmust act i mediately, an inspector nust have
consi derabl e discretion in determ ni ng whether an inmr nent danger
exists." Applying this rationale to the case at bar, the
question, in my opinion, is whether Inspector Huggins abused his
di scretion or authority when he deternined, on the basis of his
observations and the information he had at the tine he issued the
order, that an imrm nent danger existed. Upon review of the
evidence | amunable to find that he abused his discretion or
authority. | therefore uphold the validity of the inm nent danger
order.

The Comnmi ssion has recently noted that an inm nent danger
order need not be based upon a violation of a mandatory standard
in order to be valid. See S. Rep. No. 461, 95th Cong., 1st Sess.
39 (1977), reprinted in Senate Subconmittee on Labor, Comittee
on Human Resources, 95th Cong., 2nd Sess., Legislative History of
the Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977, at 1317 (1978)
("Legis. Hst."); Freeman Coal Mning Co., 1 |IBMA 197, 207-08
(1973), aff'd, Freeman Coal M ning Co. v. IBMA 504 F.2d 741 (7th
Cir. 1974). Accordingly, despite upholding the validity of the
i mm nent danger order, the question of whether a preponderance of
the evidence establishes a violation of 30 C.F.R 0O 75.202(a) as
alleged in Citation No. 3224858 rennins.
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After the inspector conpleted his inspection and | eft, M. Cooper
made further observations, photographs, neasurenents, and tests.
He used a scaling bar and found the belt entry roof in question
to be solid. M. Marshall, a certified m ning engineer, conducted
an extraction ratio study. He testified that the coal in place in
the area in question provided approximately two tines as nmuch
support as was required to support the roof. This expert
testi mony was credi ble and was not rebutted. | credit the
testi mony of Messrs. Marshall and Cooper. On the basis of their
testimony and ny evaluation of all the evidence in the record, |
find that the preponderance of evidence presented is insufficient
to establish a violation of 30 C.F. R 0O 75.202(a). Citation No.
3224858 is therefore vacated.

ORDER

1. Citations Nos. 3224857 and 3224858 are vacated and the
rel ated proposed penalties are set aside.

2. The Section 107(a) inmm nent danger Order No. 3224859 is
af firmed.

August F. Cetti
Adm ni strative Law Judge



